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252 Christobel Kent

witnesses, no doubt, a whole terraceful. God knows who might
come forward when—well. If it turns into a different kind of
investigation.’ He shied away from saying the word, murder. ‘And
I don’t want Lucia to hear it from them.

Luisa persisted, bravely. ‘But it’s a bit of a leap from a grope
to—I don’t know, doing away with the girl?’

He put his face in his hands. ‘There were dark places, he
said, ‘in Claudio’s past, in his mind, too. We don’t know what he
might think, where he might think he was.

If only we could find her,” he said. ‘Alive or dead.” He
looked up. ‘She’s out there somewhere.’

‘So give yourself a bit more time, said Luisa gently. “Talking
to Lucia won’t get you to her.” She smiled faintly. ‘And are you
going to just let Massi off the hook? Because if you don’t go and
stick pins into him, I will. If he’d come forward when she didn't
turn up for their rendezvous instead of just scuttling off home
to his wife and saying nothing, then we’'d be in a very different
position now, wouldn’t we?’

Sandro looked at her with admiration; she was a slow-
burner, all right, Luisa, his little glowing furnace of a wife, but
she sent out sparks. He felt one of them kindle and take. “You're
right,” he said. “You always are.’

So now she and Giulietta were off to the Via dei Bardi on
their wild goose chase after the mad old cat lady, and he was
sitting here in his parked car staring at the Boboli, as if it was
going to tell him all the answers.

Sandro shifted his gaze, and found himself staring instead
into the darkened windows of the gallery, where Paolo Massi
had spent all day working. There in the window was a desk,
a great ostentatious carved thing, right in the window so that
everyone could see the great man at his labours, and he in turn
could amuse himself by watching the passing trade.

Luisa was right; he needed to get Paolo Massi in front of
him. He'd seen men like him before; a slimy little wife-batterer
from Prato who'd had an alibi for the time his wife was pushed
down the stairs; a businessman who’d paid a market-stallholder
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hold, but before he could even complete the thought he felt

something shift beneath his feet.
‘Stay there,’ he said sharply over his shoulder to Antonella

Scarpa. ‘Call a fire engine, call an ambulance, but don’t move.
She nodded mutely.

‘Where?’ he asked. But she just pointed, helplessly, towards
the ants’ nest of broken palings and half-collapsed plasterboard
behind the clubhouse of the Circolo Rondinella. "Somewhere
there,” she said.

And then, as he took a step, a sound cut through the roar
of the water underneath Sandro, the tinny, high-pitched sound
of a ringtone, incongruous and familiar, the theme tune of some
ancient TV cartoon show Sandro couldn’t place.

He moved towards the sound, around the side of the cabin
and there it was, down a half-collapsed wooden walkway, the
screen of a mobile phone blinking up at him in the dark as it
rang. ‘Tiger Man, a tiny voice sang. Sandro reached for it and as
he moved something came at him from the dark, took hold of
his arm and held on for dear life.

Letting out an exclamation, Sandro struggled to free himself
and saw beside him the painfully thin, upturned face of Tomi,
Comic-book Boy, hair plastered all around it. He was holding a torch,
its beam now directed at his own face, and he was making sounds.

‘What?’ said Sandro, holding the boy tight, looking him
full in the face. "What are you saying?’

"The dog, said the boy distinctly, rearing and struggling to
escape eye contact. ‘The dog. Help him, Claudio’s dog.’

‘Where's the dog?” Sandro asked, and the boy shone the
torch towards a battered door at a crazy angle near the far end
of the disintegrating jetty, fastened shut by a brass padlock.
And then below them something clattered and loosened, and
the whole structure swayed. Bodily Sandro lifted the boy; he
weighed next to nothing, all wire and bones; he hauled him
back, across the terrace, pushed him out through the fence.

‘Give me your torch,” he said, leaning through after him
with his hand out.
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S0 vou decided between you that Claudio Gentileschi
would be a very handy suspect when her body was found, eventu-
ally? Particularly it he was dead: nothing neater than a murderer
who Kills himselt out of remorse. Was she dead, by then, little
Ronnie, by Wednesday evening when vou told Antonella not
to come to the gallery because vour wite was helping? Was she
dead when vou took her out of the back and bundled her into the
car? Or didn't vou dare? I bet vour wite would dare.

‘No, she...” Massi had the slack-jawed look of an idiot now,
but even an idiot knew when to shut up.

‘People saw Claudio, or thought they saw him, molesting
the girl, didn't thev? And he was losing his marbles, wasn'’t he,
it d be easy enough to make it stick. And then she had a better
idea, didn't she? Persuade him he’d be better off dead, what with
the shame of it all’

Luisa’s voice broke in, clear and firm.

‘She told Claudio his wite was dead, she said. ‘Fiamma
DiTommaso overheard them. Massi turned to look at Luisa as
she added, ‘She heard her say, Don't you remember, your wife’s

dead?’

Giulietta was nodding, at her side. Massi turned to look at

them, shrunk small, cornered.
Sandro took over. ‘It wouldn’t have been hard, would it?

Dirty old man, you'd be better off dead. What was there for him
to live for? There'd always been just the two of them.’

And as the words were spoken Luisa turned her head just
slightly, so as not to look at him, and the chill was there, across
his heart too. He forced himself to say what he had to say next.

‘And then she held out her hand for his keys.” Sandro pulled
the set of keys Lucia Gentileschi had taken from the scroll-top
desk out of his pocket. ‘He had a spare set at home, did you know
that? His wife found them, and gave them to me.

‘Why did she ask for the keys, Paolo?” Sandro went on.
‘What proposal did she make to you when she came back here
from the Lungarno Santa Rosa, still in her white coat¢ Remove
the evidence, the stock of fakes, worth a penny or two, and then
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came; only a small amount of force was necessary. | took her
back the same way I came, back to the gallery, where she will
be punished, as a child. And then... She made a magician’s
gesture in the air, letting Iris’s hands drop. ‘She is gone. I make
her disappear.” She stood, took a pace or two towards a massive
stone fireplace.

‘1 return for Claudio Gentileschi later; Paolo has told me of
the bar where he takes a drink after work every day, before he goes
back to his wife. Maybe he will be there. And it was fate: he was
there. I told him again why there was no point in going home. I
could smell whisky on his breath.” She reached for something on
the mantelpiece, and held it up. ‘He even gave me his keys.’

Iris struggled with the information; she could not bear to
stop and think about it because it wasn’t Claudio she needed to
know about. Her wrists were free and she knew she should run
and she would, but first she had to know.

"Where did you put her?’ she said, hearing herself close to
begging, close to crying. "What do you mean, you punished her,
like a child? She was harmless, you didn’t need to be jealous of
Ronnie.

And then the sob rose in her throat, when she saw what she
had done. Too late.

You think I would be jealous?” Anna Massi said with
soft, whispering fury and seized her, forced her back down, her
mouth so close to Iris that Iris could smell her breath, slightly
sour, the chemical smell of madness, of medication, of some-
thing wrong deep down. ‘He always comes back.

Over Anna Massi’s head a mirrored dreamcatcher swayed
and tinkled, and beside her elbow the grey filament of smoke
from an incense cone spiralled into the air, chokingly sweet. Iris
thought she didn’t want these to be the last things she saw and
smelled; she squeezed her eyes shut.

‘He always comes back?’ She torced the words out. “To this
horrible place? Well, more fool him.” And as one of Anna Massi’s
hands moved to her throat she found she couldn’t even cry out,

any more, for the open spaces, for hills and trees, to be out of
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That was unfair, clearly it was. He still saw his old comrades
now and again in the city; they’d nod and exchange a word in
the street; he thought they’d stand him a coffee if he ever found
himself back in the bar on the viale they used to frequent. But
what conversation would they have? ‘Sorry, mate’? The murky
old Caffe Tramvai—there’d been trams running past the Porta
al Prato once, before Sandro was born—with its Formica tables
and sixties decor, and the best trippa alla fiorentina in the city.
He thought of those lunch-breaks now and again, when his
guard was down; they would all crowd in there at twelve-thirty
and stand eating the ragout out of little bowls, steaming, sweet,
garlic and tomatoes and tender fragments of meat. But that
friendly shared coffee was never going to happen, was it? Sandro
had avoided the place like the plague since the day of his depar-
ture on a cold, dark January day nearly two years ago.

Sandro was no longer a police officer. At least, he consid-
ered gloomily, he had not been discharged, dishonourably or
otherwise; at least he had been allowed early retirement. It
had been more than a face-saver; it had meant he could work,
because the opportunities for a disgraced policeman were
limited. If there’d been any sympathy for his offence among
his colleagues, Sandro didn’t seek it out; he didn’t want to be
forgiven. The offence of relaying confidential information to
the father of an abducted child.

The child’s disappearance had come at a bad time; if you
believed in astrology, at some disastrous conjunction of planets,
it had always been inevitable that further tragedy could only
follow from it. It had been a long time ago, with Luisa the
wrong side of forty, and the possibility that they would never
have children of their own was turning to stone-dead certainty
for both of them. The girl—nine years old—had disappeared

from a crowded pool, her body found at a bend in a river in the
Apennines a week later, caught in reeds.

No arrest had been made, though they’d had their suspect
all right, and Sandro had kept in touch with the child’s father.
Why? It was obvious why, people sometimes said to him, it





index-19_1.png
THE DROWNING RIVER 5

twenty minutes arranging the lilies. It was another example of
her mysterious superiority, that Luisa was not afraid of grief.

Sandro had been nineteen when his mother died—she had
had cancer, though Sandro never knew where—and just coming
to the end of his military service. He came back for the funeral in
his unitorm, unable to cry. His father went to his own grave a year
later; they had been hard-working country people with no time for
the expression of emotion, and although he’d been no more than
sixty the loss had simply been too much for him to bear. Sandro
had found himselt stunned into silence by their abrupt absence.

It was suddenly too late to ask them anything; within six
months he had met Luisa, and asked her to marry him. At the
time it had seemed like the only way to survive; within five
years he realized that he couldn’t remember his father’s face
without taking up the framed photograph he kept in a drawer,
and staring hard at it. They were in his head somewhere, the pair
of them hand in hand in old-fashioned clothes, but he did not
want to think about them; he didn't have Luisa’s trick of taking
sadness by the hand and making it a friend.

‘T'm a very lucky man, he said to her back as she stirred

something on the stove. ‘Very lucky.

a®r alp a9
%> %S W%

One of the things Sandro turned over in his mind as he sat
there on day two—All Souls’, a little cloudier than day one, the
November light a little thinner and paler—was this alteration
in his relationship with Luisa. Thirty years married—or was
it thirty-one?—and suddenly Luisa was in charge. While he'd
been in the force they’d run along separate tracks, two blind-
sided locomotives, each oblivious to the other’s direction. With
pain he thought of the big police station out at Porta al Prato on
the busy viale. Standing guard at the north-eastern approach to
the city, the warm, busy corridors, the long, shuttered windows,
the camaraderie. Misguided nostalgia, he reminded himself;

where was the camaraderie now?
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serious, decent—wants a bit of help, I'll recommend you.’ Sandro
had been her arresting officer, two years ago. She looked puzzled
at the turnabout in their relationship the offer entailed.

Sandro sighed, the irony weighing a little heavier on him
than on her. "Thanks, he said again. There was a silence during
which she tiddled with her mobile phone and he wondered if he
should otter to buy her a coftee. But betore he could say anything
she stutted the phone into her bag and leapt up.

‘Oh, God, she said, panicky and apologetic all at once. ‘It’s
ten oclock. I can’t be late, it’s only my third day!” And she was
off, as abruptly as she’d arrived.

Six hours and tour cotfees later, the desk drawers now
stocked with stationery, La Pulce tolded and unfolded a dozen
times so he could stare uncomtortably at the ad he’d placed last
week (‘Ex-officer from the Polizia dello Stato otfers thirty years’
investigative experience and discreet and conscientious service.
No job too small.’), Sandro wished he'd asked her to come back
tor a spot ot lunch. Found himself feeling envious of her two
mornings a week of being needed.

That night, Luisa chattered on about the day at the shop. A
marchesa had been caught shoplifting. Seventy if she was a day,
she rattled around in a vast, freezing nineteenth-century pile
on the hill up towards Fiesole and had given an Uccello to the
Uffizi, but the Americans who used to rent her piano nobile for
cash in hand must have got cold feet, what with all the terrorism,
because she was clearly broke. Broke, but refusing to admit it.
She’d swanned through the shop being gracious to all of them
then put a handbag under her ancestral fur coat. The alarms had

gone off when she’d tried to leave.

‘Are you listening?’ said Luisa. ‘I thought you'd be
interested.’

‘Sorry, said Sandro. He’d been wondering how long he
should sit there in the Via del Leone, before calling it quits.
‘Shoplifting?’ He wondered if she was about to suggest he should
look for some work as a store detective, or private security
standing by the cashpoints or the jewellers’ shops on the Ponte





index-31_1.png





index-30_2.png





index-32_1.png
o





index-31_2.png





index-33_1.png





index-32_2.png





index-34_1.png





index-33_2.png





index-28_1.png
14 Christobel Kent

from malnutrition but brown instead of the rainbow of red and
rust and greenish blonde. Wrists still as thin as chicken bones,
but fuller in the face.

‘How did I track you down, you mean?’ she said with rough
good cheer. She took out a pack of cigarettes, turned it over in

her hands, put it away. ‘Have a guess.’
He nodded. Luisa. ‘She thinks I need keeping an eye on,

does she?’
He saw Giulietta survey the room from the doorway

without answering, lips pursed. ‘Bit quiet,” she commented, and
he shrugged, helpless.

She eyed him. ‘Don’t need a receptionist yet, then?” She must
have seen the alarm in his eyes because she burst out laughing
then, her rusty, smoker’s laugh. ‘Don’t worry, Commissario—
And when he flinched, she looked apologetic, started again.
‘Don’t worry, Signore Cellini, 'm not offering. I don't need a
job, as it happens.’ She eyed him for signs of surprise and, seeing
none, went on proudly, T'm working at the Women'’s Centre. On
the Piazza Tasso.

Bit close to home, Sandro thought, guiltily. He wasn't sure he
needed to be worrying about Giulietta Sarto on top of everything
else. ‘Sit down, he said, pulling out one of the plastic chairs.

“Iwo mornings a week and all day Saturday to begin with,
she said quickly, as if she knew what he was thinking. ‘Only, when
I bumped into Luisa at the baker’s she told me you’d got yourself a
little office here. Said I could pop my head around the door.’

Sandro relaxed. What else was he doing, anyway?

"Thanks, he said, smiling for the first time. ‘Maybe you could
drum up some business for me, down at the Women’s Centre.’

They both laughed reluctantly at that. The Centre provided
emergency contraception, advice for battered wives, rape crisis
telephone lines. Halfway house for women like Giulietta, not a
centesimo to rub between the clientele.

You'll be all right,” she said, cautiously. Then, becoming
more thoughtful, ‘Seriously, though. 1 will say. If anyone—not,
like, liabilities, I can see you can do without that, but anyone
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discover none of the land belonged to the seller, and it was too
late to recover their deposit? Two hundred thousand euro?’ That
was the deposit? Sandro’s eyes popped at the figure.

Don't vou see?” she said, taking his hands in hers. “They get
married, they buy property, they start a business, just like us. They
need help more than us, they don't know the system. You could
advertise, in the free papers, the little magazines for foreigners.
And tor locals, in La Pulce, that kind of thing. You don’t even have
to call yourselt a private detective, if you don’t want.’

Sandro studied their hands together on the table, Luisa’s
pale and puckered with washing, clean, short nails, her plain gold
wedding ring. He should have bought her an engagement ring,
shouldn't he? But they had never had the money. He thought
about what she had said. A niche, that was what she was talking
about, and he had to admit, he didn’t object to the word. And, as
Luisa was too kind to say out loud, what else was he going to do?

Taking a deep breath and without knowing if it was true,
Sandro said, ‘I don't mind that. It says what it means, doesn'’t it?
I don’t mind being a private detective.

First thing on day three, Giulietta Sarto turned up, like a
bad penny, he thought with something like affection. ‘Oi, she

shouted into the intercom. ‘Only me.’
She was looking better these days, though Giulietta could

hardly have looked worse than she had two years ago when,
emaciated from living on the streets, she’d stabbed her abuser and
so played her part in the story that had ended with Sandro losing

his job. She’d been placed in custody, of course, and put through
the mill, but they’d got her off on mental health grounds, then

Luisa had taken an interest. Giulietta had put on some weight
and was living in public housing, Sandro dimly remembered, not
far from here. San Frediano, he thought gloomily as he heard her
quick footsteps on the stairs, public housing and old ladies. It’s
not going to pay for Luisa’s engagement ring.

‘Hi, Giulietta, he said warily. ‘What are you up to?
Standing in the lobby, she didn’t look bad at all, as it happened.
She was wearing a dark suit, cheap but it fitted her. Hair thin
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south side of the river, took her across the plainest and most
modern bridge over the river. The Ponte alle Grazie may have
been ugly but it had the best views on a clear day, the Ponte
Vecchio on one side and the mountains of what Iris calculated
from her examination of the guidebook must be the Casentino
rising up on the other. Ronnie would jeer at the crowds thick on
the Ponte Vecchio; tourists, poring over the blue guide just like
Iris. As if the two of them were anything else.

Today the Ponte Vecchio was barely visible, and in the other
direction thick low cloud rolled all the way down to the city. At
the foot of the bridge there was one of a series of hoardings the
comune had put up, with blown-up photographs of the flood,
forty years earlier, that had filled up all the cellars and washed
the cars into gardens. Iris read the caption to a photograph of a
cavernous warehouse with documents spread to dry on trestle
tables and an earnest, bespectacled white-gloved figure picking
through them: From all over the world lovers of art came to help
us restore our city.

All Iris could see clearly was the river below her, turned
yellow with all the rain that had fallen last night, and the
buttresses of the bridge cluttered with branches and detritus
washed down from the hills. Sad stuff, rags and shopping trol-
leys that made Florence just like any other city; a whole tree torn
up from some country riverbank. The muddy water swirled and
churned, and Iris watched, not moving.

Before leaving the apartment, Iris had stood a long time—
for her—staring into the mirror in the bathroom. Like all the
other rooms it was badly lit, the ceilings too high, electric light
all wrong under the vaulting, but when looking at herself in
the mirror Iris didn't mind that. She’d wished for Ma at that
moment, to rest her hand approvingly on the small of her back
and say, youre well made. You're lovely.

Not lovely, she’d decided, looking at herself as if for the first
time. But not fat. She had swallowed, blinking at the insult. She
hated him, whoever he was; for an instant as she’d tugged on the

light pull to extinguish the sight of herself, she’d thought that if
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‘Back to work,” said Massi.

They were to do charcoal studies of a small Etruscan statue
Antonella had set up against the glass doors, but they had hardly
sat at their easels when a bell rang. It was only the doorbell but
today to Iris it sounded ridiculously loud, a raucous, grating
sound like the alarms that called farmers in from the fields in
France. In the peaceful space it reverberated, stopping them all
in their tracks: Hiroko, Traude, Sophia, who’d turned up breath-
less just as they packed up their easels from the morning’s sitting,
looking around for someone before sitting down, Antonella in
her work apron behind the delicate, beautiful statue. Massi came
out of the oftice that sat on a soppalco, a kind of loft platform in
the space above them, and looked down.

Antonella shrugged in response; she made as if to take
off her apron and go to answer it but Massi made an impatient

gesture and came down the stairs.

‘Come along,” said Antonella, turning back briskly to
her small audience as Massi passed behind them on the way
to answer the door, a tiny frown puckering her forehead. ‘It’s
nothing to do with you. A lavoro.’

But none of them even picked up the charcoal; they were
listening. There were men'’s voices, lowered but serious, at the
end of the wide corridor that led to the street door. Massi’s voice
was raised. Then there were footsteps and the voices came closer,
and seeing the expression on Antonella’s face as she looked down
the corridor, they all turned, and Iris stared along with all the
rest. Two carabinieri in dark blue uniforms with guns startlingly
real, matt black and substantial on their hips, were following
the course director back into the studio and up the stairs to the
office. One of them was carrying a large plastic envelope by the
corners; it was opaque, and seemed to contain something bulky.

All three men’s faces were averted from their curious audi-
ence as in unison the heads below followed their progress; there
was a tiny gasp, from Sophia, when the nearest policeman’s
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‘He stopped reading, she said, then halted again and

folded those pale hands back up in her lap. And although
Sandro had never been interested in reading more than the

newspaper in that moment he could see the two of them
reading together, scholarly, silent, companionable. And then
one of them stopped reading and—did what, instead? Stared,
vacantly? Panicked, silently?

‘I started to find little sticky notes he put around the place,
she said with a tiny gasp. ‘Two or three times, saying Teeth.
Things like that. Reminding himself to clean his teeth.” And he
saw her press her lips together.

They did say that the earliest stages could be the worst,
when there was still considerable lucidity and the implications
of the memory loss could be understood by the sufferer. He
had seen that terrified look in Luisa’s mother’s eyes for a brief
few weeks, before other parts of her brain had shut down and
shielded her, mercifully, from her loss.

He called Pietro, with a heavy heart; he hadn't anticipated
how much he would hate this. The calling in of favours. He was
out on a call; carefully Sandro left the message, that he wanted to
talk to him about the death of Claudio Gentileschi, gave details
of the date, age, address, everything he knew would speed things
up. The desk officer—whose name he had avoided asking—took
down all the information, his voice remote and uninterested as
if Gentileschi had died a hundred years ago. Sandro hung up, his
mind ticking through the whole hopeless business; what does a
man do who sees the end of his life rushing towards him?

By the time he stood, stiff in the failing light, and reached
for his coat, although he had liked her perhaps more than

anyone he had met in years, Sandro was dreading his next
encounter with Lucia Gentileschi.

& &

Nothing had happened to Ma, though the moment Iris under-
stood that fact she had to fight the urge to phone her mother,
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Only last week Ronnie’d been asking him about supple-
mentary reading, making a good impression, her speciality of
course, until she spoiled it. She always spoiled it, though in
this instance she’d excelled herself; he’d fallen for it, hadn’t he?
Offered her some of his own books to read, given her a pass for
that tour of the Vasari corridor, the famous passageway tfrom
the Pitti Palace to the Uffizi that only the cognoscenti ever got
to see. And now Iris had to carry the can.

She looked at her feet while he spoke.

‘Do I bother to ask where she is today?’ he said, stiffly.

‘l don’t know where she is, she said, and Paolo Massi
nodded, studying her. ‘These students,” he said. ‘But not you,
Iris, eh?” He nodded towards the row of hooks, where her
apron hung. “To work, OK? I think the one I should speak to is
Veronica’s mother, perhaps.’

Bloody hell, thought Iris as she turned to begin work, then,
when he didn’t look up again from the table, Hes bluffing. But
Ronnie’s mother probably wouldn't care, anyway; it was probably
all the same to her it Ronnie was learning to draw or rubbing
shoulders with English aristocrats in some castle in Chianti.

It had turned so mild by lunchtime that Antonella Scarpa
opened the glass doors into the courtyard and Iris slipped
out there to eat her sandwich. Only halt a dozen had turned
up today, anyway; forget it, she thought, why are you feeling
guilty? She wondered again what would happen if Massi did call
Ronnie’s mother. Maybe she’d be out on her ear, for failing to
keep Ronnie on the straight and narrow.

The centre of the large, high-ceilinged studio was now
occupied by a long table, where they could sit and eat or draw.
Six or seven people; the workers. Even today, even preoccupied
with Ronnie’s bad behaviour, Iris liked Fridays. Right from the
start—and this was, what, her fourth Friday? Or maybe fifth—
certain students on the course didn’t turn up, because the
partying started on Thursday night. It meant the noise levels
were down and, more importantly, the social pressure was off.
There was none of the, Where did you go last night? Did you
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see so and so? I was, like, so wasted. Ronnie could handle it, of
course, Miss Congeniality; Ronnie was interested.

But Iris wanted a quiet lite, and on Fridays that was what
you got. She surveved the heads at the table. She liked everyone
who was in today, liked Hiroko, liked Gaby, even liked weird
Traude tfrom Nuremberg. The absentees were Sophia, from
Gloucestershire, and Jackson, from some college in Vermont.
Iris didn't know where Vermont was, exactly, but it didn’t
look poor; even Iris found herselt looking sneakily at Jackson’s
iPhone, mesmerised by the tiny glowing screen and Jackson
moving the pictures along with a fingertip, like a magician.
Jackson had laughed at her, not unkindly.

Sophia was prone to oversleeping, and so hopeless at
drawing Iris felt tor her; it was to her credit that she kept going
at all. To date Iris didn’t think Jackson had come in once on
a Friday, and on the days he was in he was almost detached,
sleepy and careless and gangly. Out of place, just killing time in
the studio while waiting for the evening when he’d head off out
with some other Americans to the Zoe, a bar around the corner
from the school where their evenings always started. A place full
of posh, wealthy Florentines, young men in blazers and crisply
ironed shirts and women in heels, with long blonde hair. They’'d
move on to the happening places, the other bars and clubs, and
as often as not Ronnie would go with them. Sometimes they
asked Iris, but she didn’t have the money, and she didn’t want to
freeload. Would she have gone if she had? Maybe.

Jackson had asked after Ronnie yesterday, or maybe it had
been the day before. The day the rain started; they’d been eating
their sandwiches at the table, listening to it tall on the glass
roof. He’d shown no sign of surprise when Iris had told him,
under her breath, that she’d taken a little holiday. ‘Somewhere
hot, I hope,” he’d said, nodding at the rain. Iris had grimaced,
thinking of how mad Ronnie would be, no chance of swimming

pool action at the Chianti castle.
Antonella hadn’t really gone over the top about it, either.

Iris pondered if this always happened, the parents coughed up
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could find another reason not to, Iris walked out of the kitchen
and through the dark red and black hall to Ronnie’s room. She
stood in the doorway, hands warming around the tea, looking.
Not wanting to walk in and change things, as if it was the crime
scene, right here. Because something was different and she was
going to stand here until she worked out what it was.

It was like that game, Pelmanism, or whatever, remem-
bering objects on a tray. Eye mask, Tampax, a book with its spine
cracked on the floor, bed unmade. Knickers, two pairs.

The shutters were folded back; she couldn’t remember
doing it, but maybe she had. The room must have been light,
because she’d looked around, so maybe she had. A stack of
school materials on the desk, leaflets for the studio, the school,
the gallery where eventually their work might go on show, if it
could be sold. Iris felt like crying at the thought of that, Ronnie’s
little drawings, her sketchbooks. She picked one up and went
through it; to her surprise it was full of drawings, and so was the
one below it; Ronnie’d been working, after all. Pages and pages
of architectural detail, railings, stone lintels, escutcheons, eaves;
another with anatomical sections, stuffed birds. Homework.

Next to the pile was the computer; Iris blinked. Ronnie’s
laptop was turned off.

Iris felt the tea going cold in her hands, and she set the mug
down on the floor, at her feet. Tentatively she stepped into the
room, trying not to disturb anything. She stared at the laptop,
its little row of lights all extinct; the battery was dead, which
meant...She leaned around the back, trying not to touch it, and
saw that the mains cable was not plugged in. She frowned. She
didn’t know how long a battery lasted but she’d be willing to bet
it didn't last four days, so the thing must have been plugged in
yesterday morning.

[ris thought of Ronnie’s MySpace, the messages she’d
scrolled down to find; had there been a message from someone
who meant her harm? Tart, someone had called her; Iris
had assumed it was a joke. Had there been any clue to where

she planned to go, and who with? Because there would be a
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champagne with a teaspoon in the neck. How long had that been
there? She closed the fridge slowly, thoughtfully, set her back
against the door, looking at the long stone drainer. Two shallow
champagne glasses etched with a Greek key design from the
cabinet in the salotto stood there upside down, dry inside.

[t was doing something to her head, all this. Iris really
couldn't remember if the glasses had been there on Tuesday
morning, there was a kind of buzz between her ears, as of
static, that stopped her thinking straight; panic, it'd be panic.
She breathed caretully, in and out, and her head cleared, just
a bit. Yes; she'd washed them up herself, on Tuesday evening.
She remembered because she'd thought they’d found every-
thing on Monday night, clearing up after the party. Ronnie’d
been in a good mood at the end of it, a bit pissed, singing,
wearing her little mask as she carried glasses in ten at a time

while Iris washed.
They'd talked; what had they talked about? The boy who'd

called her fat.
“You heard what he said, didn’t you?” Ronnie had said,

rough but anxious. ‘Don’t worry about it. He’s just a pig.” She
set down another load of glasses, extracting her long fingers. ‘So

many boys are.
And then on Tuesday night Iris had found the two champagne

glasses in the sink and had wondered how she’d missed them.

The party had been a disaster, hadn’t it? The Halloween
party. A random bunch of people, hangers-on, liggers, half of
them hardly knew Ronnie at all, yet she’d still spent fifty euros
on wine and crisps. But she’d been perfectly cheerful; she’d been

happy, bringing in the glasses. She hadn’t spent all evening buried
in some guy’s neck on the sofa, but she hadn’t drunk herself

stupid out of disappointment as a result, as she would have done
at school. Had she grown up since then? No; Iris would have
said definitely, not a lot. Why had she been so serene, singing to

herself as she brought the glasses in to the kitchen?
Behind Iris the kettle whistled; tea bag, milk, chipped

cup—all the grand crockery seemed chipped—and before she
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through the place in that unnerving draught, this morning Iris
found the dimness more than just annoying; it made her uneasy.
Actually, it frightened her.

As the clutter of the long salotto emerged in the half-light
thrown by the only two functioning candle-bulbs on the chan-
delier—the prickly sofa with wooden arms, the console tables
topped with black marble, the huge gilded mirror—Iris found
where the draught was coming from. She must have left one ot
the long windows ajar; she opened it fully, pushed back the shut-
ters to let more light in, then yanked the window tight closed
on the inside. She stood there a moment, looking out, trying to
work out what was different. Same synagogue, same black ivy,
same statues. But something was different.

Slowly Iris turned away from the view, trying to resist the
creeping claustrophobia of the room, damask curtains and the
heavy furniture around her. The flocked walls and the heavy-
framed portrait that hung over the red marble fireplace, a
jarringly modern—well, 1950s—study of their landlady. Iris
felt a moment of panic, because how on earth could she go
on living here without Ronnie? Even supposing—and she
stopped right there. Even supposing they find her? Even
supposing she’s OK?

Iris stood very still, waiting for the panic to pass. Why had
she wanted to come back here? She had wanted to look around,
in peace. She waited, listening; she could hear the roar of the
traffic around the Piazza d’Azeglio, and the conversations of
birds in the garden, but the flat was silent, just as it had been
yesterday morning. She was alone.

Iris knew she should look in Ronnie’s room but somehow
she didn't feel quite ready for it. A cup of tea, she thought,
procrastinating.

[n the kitchen she set the kettle on the elderly cast-iron
cooker, checked the milk in the fridge. She even stood there a

minute or two, looking at the fridge’s contents for hidden signif-
icance; Ronnie’s yoghurts, a piece of waxy-looking pecorino
half out of its paper, three bottles of prosecco, an open bottle of
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and mozzarella and some long roasting tins heaped up with
prepared pasta, allamatriciana; with spinach; with capers and
tuna. This was where he should have been coming to get his
lunch; Sandro calculated the distance between the river and his
office and decided it was just right for a midday constitutional.
On a dry day.

Clearly it was too busy to ask questions; the proprietor was
running from one end of the long zinc bar to the other, arms
raised to point at heads, to take the next order. Sandro waited
his turn, ordered a plate of penne all’arrabbiata, and took it to a
small table by the door that was miraculously empty. He looked
around for a paper but there were none; only when he sat down
did Sandro realize that he’d managed to abscond with the copy
of La Nazione he’d started to look at in the bar in the Via dei
Pilastri. Stuffed in his pocket, and damp but not actually disin-
tegrating; things were looking up. With care he extracted the
soggy newspaper from his jacket and unfolded it on the table.

The penne were delicious, hot with just the right amount of
chilli and garlic, a good, oily long-cooked tomato sauce, plenty of
parsley chopped nice and fine and fresh. Sandro savoured the dish,
turning the pages, passing the report of the Utfizi rape. They had
the man, still working bold as brass, as if he hadn’t even thought
he’'d done anything wrong. Thought, maybe, that an immigrant
girl, a Romanian or Latvian or whatever she was, would be too
cowed to make a complaint. Hardly even thought of her as human,
perhaps; that was common enough among psychopaths.

As he chewed, the burn of the chilli in his mouth joining
forces with a simmering outrage, Sandro reflected that people
thought of psychopaths as big characters, Hannibal Lecter
types, evil geniuses, but Sandro had seen enough of them to
know ditferent. They could be smart, but some could be very
stupid indeed; they were characterized by a lack, by something
missing in the whirring, complicated brain, a cog gone, a reser-
voir emptied. Disinhibition, lack of conscience, amorality, there

were names for it. Sandro thought of the autopsia on Gentileschi.
The lesions on the brain in that big domed head.





index-97_2.png





index-159_1.png





index-95_2.png





index-158_2.png





index-95_1.png





index-160_1.png





index-96_2.png





index-159_2.png





index-96_1.png





index-157_1.png





index-93_2.png





index-156_2.png





index-93_1.png





index-158_1.png





index-94_2.png





index-157_2.png





index-94_1.png





index-97_1.png





index-156_1.png





index-92_2.png





index-155_2.png





index-153_2.png





index-89_3.png





index-153_1.png





index-89_2.png





index-154_2.png





index-90_2.png





index-154_1.png
i





index-90_1.png





index-152_1.png





index-87_2.png





index-151_2.png





index-87_1.png





index-152_3.png





index-89_1.png





index-152_2.png





index-88_1.png
74 Christobel Kent

The woman—Eva it said, on her lapel—set both hands
on the counter. ‘I’'m sorry,” she said with heavy finality, ‘I don't
recognize this man. What did you say his name was?’

He waited while she typed on a keyboard behind the
counter, frowning at the computer. Tap. He saw the screen
reflected in her eyes, data scrolling down. Tap.

Eventually Eva said, “Via dei Pilastri?’

‘That’s him, said Sandro; at least there was a single concrete
fact between them.

She raised her eyes to his, curious at last. ‘'Well, he was a
member. Was. He took out membership...” She leaned down to
the screen, then back up. ‘In 1997’

‘Right,” said Sandro, energized, ‘so—’

She interrupted him. ‘For one year only. It lapsed a year
later. It doesn’t look as though he used it much.

‘How much?’ said Sandro.

‘He came twice, said Eva. Her eyes shifted to look over his
shoulder.

Someone was behind him, a tall man with stringy hair and a
beard waiting with his tessera held out for inspection. Sandro left.

Outside on the lungarno the traffic roared and screeched;
Sandro crossed the road to enter the dingy grey park that ran
along the river for a bit of space to think. There was a mist of fine
rain in the air; more rain. He walked through the park, around
the empty children’s playground, to the parapet along the river,
where he stopped. He leaned on the stone, looked up at the great
hills of the Casentino for a glimpse of something other than grey
and far off he saw it, a little cap of snow above the cloud.

All right, he thought, so he didn’t go swimming every day
at nine oclock. Ten years ago or so, he took out membership,
maybe intending to distract himself, do something useful, but
he changed his mind.

According to the barman on the Via dei Pilastri, he didn’t

even come this way, and Sandro felt strangely reassured by this
turn of events. He had hated the Bellariva and, besides, this wasn’t

the part of town he’d have put a man like Claudio Gentileschi,
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thing failure, when had it been, ten vears ago? Luisa’s mother
had been cighty-three, which had been a good age for a lonely
old woman who had struggled to live on for fifteen years after
her husband without really wanting to. But there are two of us,
he wanted to say; we aren't lonely. What had Lucia Gentileschi
said? It ends with us.

The bus turned away from the river, into the maze of the
Oltrarno’s streets that remained obstinately foreign to Sandro,
the damp alleys with their smell of overflowing drains, the
workshops, the dusty bars. It buzzed across the front of the
Palazzo Pitti, which stood bleak and grey in the rain, the big
sloping forecourt empty of tourists. It turned down the Via
Mazzetta and across the Piazza Santo Spirito where the junkies
huddled on the stone bench around the base of the Biblioteca
Machiavelli. It juddered to a halt at the end of a ramshackle
line of traffic, a rubbish truck, a delivery van, the furgoni from
the market reversing out with their loads of cheap clothes and

trestle tables.
The pavement was so narrow and the bus was canted so

steeply into a pothole, he could have leaned out of the window
to touch them, the junkies. They were pressed back, grubby
hooded sweatshirts up against the rain, to get some shelter from
the big eaves overhead. Grey-skinned, shivering, like rats forced
up from underground; Sandro was glad he didn't have to deal
with them any more. The one on the end looked like Giulietta
Sarto had looked, before she cleaned up. So thin you could see
every bone in her face, and the eyes yellow with alcohol and
sunken. Ahead the lights changed, the traffic shifted; he thought
maybe he’d ask Giulietta if she fancied a bit of lunch when this
was done.

Sandro thought of Luisa’s mother not telling anyone about
the tumour, because she didn’t want to be alone any more.
She’d wanted to die. He thought of Lucia Gentileschi; would
that happen to her? Was hiring him a delaying tactic, some
kind of denial? Maybe it was, but he had the strong feeling
Lucia Gentileschi would not be good at telling herself lies. And
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The elegant little building did have the odd Viennese
touch, plush comfort to counteract the desolate look of the
empty terrace where tables and chairs had been stacked to be
put away tor the winter. Inside it was cosiness itself; a small
wooden bar and a curved bay window facing out across the city
with little golden chairs set at round tables. Behind the bar a
stout middle-aged woman in an apron and an elderly bowtied
and waistcoated barman observed their entrance, possibly the
only customers they'd had all week. Luisa felt revived just by
the smell of wood and fresh coffee. She plonked herself at a
table, and when Giulietta went to get two cups and fished in her
ragged purse for coins, for once she didn’t remonstrate.

Giulietta took her time, rattling off questions at the old
barman’s back while he made their cappuccini. While she waited
Luisa took out the tolder, a touch damp but intact, and withdrew
the newspaper cutting.

When she got to the table with two brimming cups,
Giulietta said, ‘Cat Lady's got a screw loose, is their opinion,
though she used to teach anthropology at the university, so I

suppose she can’t be stupid. They say she’s here every morning,
regular as clockwork, feeds the cats and talks to them, eleven

till twelve-thirty, sometimes comes in here and asks for a glass
of tap water at twelve thirty-five or so before she goes off home
clanking like a rag and bone man with all her cans and forks
and whatnot.

A woman of regular habits, thought Luisa, musing on
the similarities between Fiamma DiTommaso and Claudio

Gentileschi. Cautiously she sipped the cappuccino; she was
fussy about her coffee, and if it was made with longlife milk she

wouldn’t drink it—but it was good.
She set the cup down. ‘Did you ask them about Tuesday?’
‘Hmm, said Giulietta. ‘She was feeding the cats Tuesday
lunchtime, says Roberta.” She nodded at the elderly woman, who
gave her a stiff smile. ‘Didn’t bother with coming in for her glass
of water, though. Which was odd, as she’s a bit obsessive about

it, and it was a nice warm day, Tuesday.
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‘Giuli?’ said Luisa. Giulietta’s tace was slack, afraid.

‘It’'s never him? she said. "The suicide? Not our Claudio?

‘Our Claudio?’ Luisa took her hand. "What do you mean?’

‘Our Claudio, said Giulietta, slowly. ‘Lives next door to the
Women’s Centre in the Piazza Tasso. Our Claudio.’
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There’ll be no image of Gentileschi, Sandro told himself,
and there'll be an end to it. The tall blades of the iris leaves scat-
tered more rainwater across his feet, and he shivered; Luisa’ll
kill me, he thought, and then he thought some more about Luisa
herselt. Which was why, when the little telefonino rang in his
breast pocket he didn’t hear it for a while. Luisa, wet feet, fever.
The weather was clearing, a patch of late afternoon blue through
the clouds, and what was that noise? He pushed his way out
through the side gate and he was on the street.

[t was Lucia Gentileschi; as though she was already a
friend, he knew her immediately.

‘Sandro?’ she said, and even though her voice was as
soft and controlled as always there was something else in it.
Contusion; fear.

[nstinctively he stepped back from the street, into the
shelter of a shop awning; it wasn’t the rain, which was easing
now anyhow; Sandro hated talking into a telefonino out on the
pavement. It always seemed wrong to him when he saw people
standing in the street shouting their business—or someone
else’s—into a little machine and oblivious of where they were.

‘What is it?’ he asked. “What’s happened?’

He turned his back on the street and found himself
looking into the shop window; not a shop as it turned out but
some kind of gallery—half the greengrocers in the city had
been turned into galleries, it seemed to Sandro. He must have
answered Lucia Gentileschi more sharply than he had intended
because inside the shop a woman was staring curiously at him,

a large canvas in her arms. Hurriedly he stepped away, crossed

the street.
‘Can you come over to the house?’ Lucia asked. Tve found

something.

a@a

5 4 4

‘She’s nuts, said Jackson, with something like relief in his voice.
‘The wife? Yeah, totally, totally nuts.’
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clearing oft the tables. I wasn’t to know..." and he drew in a breath.
‘The expression on the old man’s face, though, when the oirl
leaned over and kissed him.” He put a hand to his own face as if he
might tind it there, and Sandro saw the tremor. ‘He looked bad.

‘You should ease up on the drinking, he said softly, and
saw panic in DiLieto’s eyes.

There hadn't seemed any point in going on torturing the
man after that.

You've got my number?’ the waiter kept saying to Sandro.
Anvthing I can do, vou can call me?’ Sandro knew with leaden
certainty that DiLieto would call him again, possibly at regular
intervals tor the rest of his lite, when he didn’t have the price
ot a drink. He'd patted him on the arm, slipped him ten euro.
"Wouldn't mind talking to that camomile tea lady,” he said, more
to comfort the man than because he had any expectation. ‘If you
spot her in the street, say.

"Will do, maestro, will do, said DilLieto, with dismal grati-
tude, and they let him go. It had been awfully quiet, after he
went; they’d slid out of the restaurant, the padrone’s farewell a
great deal more muted than his welcome. Luisa overtipped, out
of guilt.

‘So what’s next?’ Giulietta had said cheertully, on the street
outside Nello in the rain. Was this like a game to her? All Sandro
had been able to think of was that he had to tell Lucia Gentileschi
what he’d discovered. Then he remembered that he’d been
supposed to meet Paolo Massi at his gallery and suddenly he was
filled with rage at the man, the smooth, greedy fake. Anger that
he should have been directing elsewhere, no doubt, but of all the
characters he’d encountered in the preceding three days, it was

Paolo Massi that was drawing his anger.
‘I’d better go and talk to Lucia Gentileschi, he said,

mentally booting Paolo Massi out of the picture.
‘Do you think that’s wise?’ Luisa had asked, her head tilted like

a bird’s. ‘I mean, what can you tell her? What did he actually see?
‘It happened, though, didn’t it? Claudio lost the plot and
groped a girl. Even if Beppe didn't see it, there was a witness;
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Arm in arm under their umbrellas they doggedly traversed
the alleys and avenues in the rain, down past the shuttered
orangery, its knot garden looking ragged, around the fountain
where the orange trees had been removed for winter, and then
under the huge semi-circle of plane trees, up the wide cypress
avenue, all deserted. They zigzagged back up again slowly, up
behind the jumble of mismatched rear fagades looking down
into cramped courtyards, the storerooms of shops, up until they
were level with shuttered bedrooms, then roof terraces.

They reached the rose garden and saw that even the porce-
lain museum, once some Medici princess’s summer house and
the favourite of old ladies on rainy Sundays, was shuttered up
for restoration. Luisa stared out across the olive groves to San
Miniato, the little church she loved more than any of the others.
As she stared she became aware that the downpour was easing
up, but still no one appeared.

They came down from the rose garden, on the point of
giving up when they passed a low plastered building with a
terracotta roof where a light was on. Giulietta peered inside,
through the half-glazed door. An elderly man in overalls was
sitting at a table under a bare light bulb, staring at the wall. They
knocked and after staring at them for a long minute he got to his
feet and came to the door holding a cup between his hands.

Hesitantly Luisa produced the battered newspaper cutting
and showed him the picture while Giulietta turned her back
and stared down the avenue. She obviously thought this was
daft. The old man frowned and shook his head for what seemed
like a good ten minutes. Then he said, ‘No. But the Carabinieri
already asked all about her. Crawling all over the place’ He
grimaced. "Tuesday there was a bit of sun, [ was busy cutting
the bay, clearing up the mess people make. I never saw her.
He sighed again. ‘And I've had enough, the bloody Carabinieri
asking blooming questions every five minutes.” He flung an arm
out. 'Look at the place. You can creep from one end to the other

without being seen, if that’s what you want. People get up to all
sorts, and don't get caught.’
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It was a nice building, four hundred years old perhaps; the
hall and stairway well kept, with retouched decoration on the
vaulted ceiling, pink and grev, and a smell of wax and cleaning
tluid in the air. Lucia Gentileschi opened the door to him
betore he even had a chance to ring, and Sandro found himself
briskly ushered into a light and spacious sitting room, almost
completely bare of ornament except for a tall candle, burning
on a table.

Holding his coat in her arms, Lucia Gentileschi saw him
looking at the candle flickering in the bright room. ‘We light
a candle for the dead,” she said. ‘In the time of mourning.’ She
hung the coat up.

For a second he didn't understand at all. And then it
dawned on him; the slight foreignness he’'d detected in Lucia
Gentileschi’s manner, a huge eight-armed candelabrum in the
window ot the dusty little shop he'd passed, the street itself.
The great green-domed synagogue, for God’s sake, just around
the corner in the Via Farini, never mind Ruth’s Kosher Café;
Sandro had lived in Florence for close to sixty years and had for
all of those known that this was what you might call the Jewish
quarter, if such things could still be said.

‘Yes, was all he said. ‘Of course.’

Still on her feet, Lucia Gentileschi eyed him, small and

fierce. You should meet my wife, he thought.
“You didn’t know?’ she said, with the ghost of a smile.

Sandro gave an apologetic shrug.
‘Good,” she said. ‘I mean, it was one of the reasons the

police made me angry. That they thought it was significant.
Because Claudio was two years in a concentration camp, they
thought it meant he was more likely to commit suicide.” Her pale
eyes gleamed.

“Two years?’ he said. ‘How old was he?’
‘Aged seventeen to nineteen, she said, and Sandro bowed

his head to hide his shame.
‘We weren’t religious,” said Lucia. She looked at the candle.
‘At least, I thought we were not. There are some things that turn
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‘No, said Iris, smiling back, T didn't think you were dumb.’

‘Why were you early for the course?” she asked on impulse,
and his eyes shifted, opaque.

He shrugged. ‘Nothing much else to do,” he said. "My folks
are busy, busy, busy. He smiled briefly but she waited, wanting
him to tell her more. “They run their own business, luxury car
sales franchise.” He smiled wryly. ‘Dull, huh? Twenty-four seven
kind of stuff. Want me out of the way till Thanksgiving.’

‘OK, said Iris cautiously, feeling a little twinge of guilt. Ma
was pretty much always there, wasn’t she? Change the subject.

She paused. ‘I guess they feel responsible,” she said. "The
Massis, I mean. They don’t have children of their own, so...

Jackson gazed thoughtfully out of the window. “"Weird, isn't
it, he said. ‘Who ends up with who? They're kind of a crazy
couple. She said they were high-school sweethearts.” He shook
his head in disbelief. ‘D’you see that nun’s room of hers?’

Yes, said Iris.

"Well,” said Jackson. “You bet they don't have kids.

[ris said nothing; the thought made her uncomfortable.

The waiter came over; the crowd had thinned and she saw
that the place was slightly more upmarket than she’d have liked,
the tables battered antiques, the waiter wearing a long apron and
black waistcoat.

“Two glasses of champagne, please,’ said Jackson carelessly,
without asking her. She stared. T'll have a coftee, she said, ‘un
caffe, per favore, more out of defiance than anything else, and a
gesture towards staying sober because it was three in the after-
noon and she wasn't used to drinking champagne then or at any
other time.

The experimental architect used to produce champagne
with a flourish in the Ventoux, if he came to dinner, which he
did occasionally; perhaps Ma asked him for old times’ sake or,
God knew, out of misplaced gratitude for the crumbling house.
And even Ma was impatient with him, on occasion, with his
assumption that she was still holding a candle for him, and
that he was bringing balm to her soul by turning up to eat their
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door a tall stand was overflowing with umbrellas. Iris eased her
shoulders out of her raincoat, and as she emerged from the wet
nylon, shaking her head like a wet dog, Jackson suddenly smiled
at her.

I'm sorry?’ he said, and Iris blushed. Again. When would
she stop blushing, when she was forty or something? She knew
if she dwelled on it one second longer it would go nuclear; it had
happened to her once, on a bus in France when a nice-looking
boy had tried to talk to her. Her tace had felt like it had been
scalded, the heat in her cheeks out of control, and eventually the
boy had stopped talking and looked at her with concern instead.
She squeezed her eyes shut; Ronnie, she thought, and the heat
subsided. She opened her eyes.

‘Massi’s wife,” she said calmly. Did he think by doing that
laid-back charming thing she was going to lose the thread? By
smiling at her? "When did you meet Massi’s wife?’

‘Duh,” he said striking his forehead. ‘Oh, he invited me for
dinner over there.’ He grimaced. The food was kind of weird,
too.

Iris laughed, despite herself. ‘Yep, she said. She thought a
minute. ‘Was it just you? They invited over?’

‘“Yeah, said Jackson, shrugging. ‘I arrived early for the
course, they thought I was all on my own.

Iris remembered what Anna Massi had said about
Americans having made their money for them; perhaps she’d
told Paolo to invite Jackson over. It wasn’t a pretty thought, but
perhaps it was just practical, everyone in Florence made their
money out of foreigners. The memory of the lunch lingered,
stale and dismal; the Massis’ big, gloomy, expensive apartment
in an area perfect for families, even though they had no chil-
dren. Perhaps Anna Massi was child enough all on her own,

with her girlish laughter and her silly ornaments.
‘In loco parentis,’ she said, ‘looking after you,” and Jackson

eyed her with amusement.
T guess so0," he said. T do know what that means, you know.

Americans aren’t all dumb.’
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waiting tor her when she was released from the institution
they'd kept her in atter she was found unfit to plead. Giulietta
Sarto would have to be told. The truth was, he wanted to sit
down with and say it out loud to another human being. It
might be cancer.

And only then did he push himself away from the wall
ot the convent in the Via della Chiesa and set off, for his
hastily arranged appointment with Maresciallo Falco of
the Carabinieri, soaked to the bone and naggingly aware of
having shaved badly that morning. In the thin morning light
of the bathroom they had shared for their whole married life,
his mind had been on Luisa’s expression as she left for work
and not on his razor. Catching sight of himself in a shopfront,
Sandro didn't look like a policeman, or an ex-policeman; he
didn’t even look much like a low-rent private detective. What
he most looked like was a bum.

[t had made it worse, not better, of course that he was
an ex-officer of the Polizia Statale; it would have made things
easier if he’d been one of the private detectives oft the hoard-
ings with their toytown badges, fresh out of college. The girl’s
mother should have looked one of those up in the yellow pages
instead of talking to Giovanna Badigliani.

Of course, it would be a Carabinieri case; they generally
handled that kind of thing, petty theft, burglary, and, besides,
if the bag was found in the Boboli it was a no-brainer, as the
Americans would say. The Boboli housed the big and beau-
tiful station that was their Florentine headquarters, set above
the orangery in its own iris beds.

He’d been there before. The Polizia Statale and the
Carabinieri always acted in full co-operation. On paper they
did, anyway. But even when he’d still been a policeman, in
that building, among the southern boys with their cavalry
officers’ uniforms, dark blue striped with red, Sandro had
never had any kind of leverage, no inside track. Now he’d told
himself that he was representing the girl’s mother, who could

not be there and didn’t speak a great deal of Italian anyway;
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Yes,’ she said, ‘that’s what I thought. It means—

It means we know that whatever happened to her happened
between 11.25 and, say, one o'clock. When she’d have left for the
airport, assuming she was going to call back here for the bag.

‘One-thirty, mavbe, said Iris March, and that was another
unexpected thing about her, the precision. ‘She liked—likes
to cut things tine.” He guessed at the meaning of that phrase,
accurately.

‘OK." he said, moving through the door into the salotto
where there seemed to be some light at least and gesturing to
her to sit down. His phone bleeped; message from Luisa. He put
it away without reading it.

‘Have you looked through it?" he asked. “The bag?’ She
nodded.

‘Clothes, she said. ‘A painting set. Washbag. Passport.’ She
faltered.

From her stricken face he could see that where he had
taken the presence of the ticket instantly as something useful,
narrowing down the timescale of Veronica Hutton’s disappear-
ance, to Iris March it had meant something else. It meant that
this was real, and that there had been some kind of holiday,
romantic or otherwise, planned by Iris’s friend but now there
was proof that she had not made it. She was not sitting on some
terrace sipping spumante.

Sandro removed the clothes from the holdall carefully,
stacking them on a small table in the thin light of the vast, cold
salotto. A faint perfume rose from them. He looked at the pass-
port photograph and saw the ghost of a knowing smile. The
painting set was brand new; he lifted it out and held it in his
hands. A long flat tin of watercolours; Iris March leaned over and
took them from him, turning them over reverently in her hands.
He looked in the washbag and saw toothpaste, toothbrush, a
blister pack of contraceptives marked with the days of the week.
He didn’t need to look to see that the last one she’d taken would

have been Tuesday, at the latest. Carefully he replaced every-
thing, except the passport and the aeroplane ticket.
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‘Has she done this sort of thing before?” he asked, ‘Is this
like her?” and immediately regretted it. A torrent of recrimi-
nations tollowed in botched Italian concerning the girl’s
school and their irresponsibility, from which he gathered that
Veronica—Ronnie, the mother called her—had absconded
trom her boarding school tor a weekend on one occasion. He
turther gathered that the mother had not actually lived with her
daughter for more than a week since the girl was sixteen, what
with school and holidays with wealthy friends here there and
evervwhere, and in fact she didn’t know it it was like her at all.

'Look,” she said in English, ‘I don’t want any investigation;
['m not paving for any investigation. I've spent enough on that
girl. She'll turn up. T just—well. The police seem to think they
need a—a representative of the tamily. You'll have to do.

And Sandro had had to put up with the woman’s dismis-
siveness. He needed the business, he needed the contacts; if he
upset Giovanna Badigliani, then Luisa would get upset and,
besides, however much of a self-absorbed monster the mother
was, a girl was missing.

Had he detected, below the bluster and the recrimina-
tions, a note of guilt in Serena Hutton’s tirade? He hoped so,
for the girl’s sake. And for Lucia Gentileschi’s sake he needed
to put to sleep his ridiculous idea that Veronica Hutton’s
disappearance had anything at all to do with her drowned

husband.
As he had stood there in the Via della Chiesa with his feet

soaked, Sandro wondered if that was really what it was, just a
ridiculous notion he’d got into his head. He had seen the girl
on Tuesday morning, around eleven-thirty, walking through
San Frediano, when by the limited evidence he had gathered,
Claudio would also have been in San Frediano. Had she been
walking towards the Boboli? She had been carrying her bag,

certainly, so she hadn’t lost it there yet, and going vaguely in
that direction; quite possibly following the route he had taken

himself, straight along the Via della Chiesa towards the Via
Romana and the back gate to the Boboli.
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never used, I thought the lock must have rusted up, but when 1
went out the back into the courtvard on Thursday because it had
started to rain and there were packing supplies out there getting
wet, [ saw 1t was ajar. [ didn't understand it, at the time.

She paused, and when she spoke again her fierceness had
returned. Despite it all, Sandro tound he liked her fierceness.
And it would have been just like her to keep her white coat on.
Look at me, a serious person. A worker. Money-grubbing, me?
Jealous, me? But it you'd seen her, spitting at him when the girl
ran otf again, vou'd have said she wasn't just jealous but crazy.’

Antonella Scarpa contorted her tace, hissing in imitation
ot her boss’s wite. Sandro could imagine how the woman must
have treated her, all these years. ‘Is it her? It’s her, isn’t it? And
she tlew at him. It was embarrassing, to tell the truth. That’s
when I left.

‘Where was Anna Massi, do you remember?’ he asked
softly. ‘'When you went? Was she still in the gallery?’

Antonella Scarpa’s small white oval tace was turned up
towards him, clever, thoughtful. ‘Inside, yes.” She nodded. ‘Paolo
was saving, it’s all right, she’s gone into the Boboli. Then Anna
turned her back on him, and was stalking otf. Towards the back

of the gallery. In her white coat.’
Sandro looked at her. Proud, and desolate, and telling the

truth. Antonella Scarpa had nothing left to lose. He put one last

careful question to her.
‘You've known Anna Massi a long time.” She nodded, just

barely. ‘And if, say, she heard Claudio talking about the work he
did for the Massi family, in detail, to the girl who was sleeping

with her husband?’
Scarpa tilted her head. ‘Yes,” she said. ‘She’d be capable of

killing them both. Anna Massi would be capable of anything.

a®p a®r 4O
% % T

In the dark, and the wet, and the chaos, the screaming of sirens
all around him, Jackson stood at the door to Paolo Massi’s apart-
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Sandro nodded, but he wasn't sure if Luisa would say the
same, had she met Lucia Gentileschi. They couldn’t have been
less physically alike—he thought this observing Luisa at the sink,
her hair as black and glossy as when he’d first met her, her shoul-
ders plump, hips wide and strong—but Claudio Gentileschi’s
widow was a woman in the same mould as Luisa herself.

‘They said he'd killed himself?” he’d asked her as gently
as he could, sitting there with her straight back in the room
tilled with pale November light. She seemed to be permanently
bracing herselt against something. ‘You don’t believe them?’

She took a while betore answering him. ‘I don’t know,” she
said at last. '] mean, no, I don’t, of course I don’t believe them,
that is my first reaction. I knew him, you see...” And at this
her voice faltered, then recovered. ‘They—you—didn’'t know
Claudio.” She nodded. ‘But I can see that perhaps, under the
circumstances, I'm not thinking clearly.” Sandro saw her eyes,
fixed on some point through the window behind him, intent. ‘I
have to be sure, you see, she went on. ‘I need to be convinced.
Because I cannot—I can't...” She gave a little gasp, drawing
breath in. ‘I can’t really stand to think that he was in pain. Or
that he was frightened.’

‘No, said Sandro, teeling a tightness in his own throat. ‘Of
course not.” He still didn’t know what she wanted of him. Lucia
Gentileschi turned her head a little to transter her gaze from the
window at last to Sandro. He wanted to look away, as if from
something very bright, but he did not.

She went on, determined. ‘The police won't tell me that, of
course; it isn’t part of their job to find that out, I suppose they
aren’t like doctors, or priests. Or perhaps they think it wouldn't
be good for me to know the truth.’

Despite himself, Sandro nodded minutely; he knew well
enough how much was never told to relatives. His heart sank at
the thought that he was being offered an opportunity to make
amends, to handle it right, this time; the problem was, he had
no idea if he could manage it. What if the truth was intolerable?

But Lucia Gentileschi—he couldn’t imagine ever being able to
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she arrived at the gallery last Tuesday? Tell them why, the next

day, you told me that T would not be needed to help in the gallery
that night, as had been planned? Was it because Anna would be
helping, the devoted wife?’

Massi said nothing. ‘The first thing she did when she saw
me, on Tuesday morning, was to take down a white coat from
the hook,” said Antonella. ‘Paolo won't be needing you any more,
she said, and then she put the coat on herself.

Standing very straight, Scarpa pointed a finger at Massi,
skewering him. ‘Let your wife pretend she hasn’t a jealous
bone in her body. Let her pretend her mind is on higher
things, her retreats, her pilgrimages, her theories about the
ancient geds. Not her ridiculous obsession with shoes, no
one is allowed to mention that, just as no one is allowed to
mention her ridiculous suicide attempts or those screaming
rows you have, regular as clockwork in the office, after the
end of every course.

Only then did she take a breath. Luisa and Giulietta were
gazing at her with something like respect.

'So it’s not her, then?’ said Giulietta. ‘I could have told you
that; she’s a Sardinian through and through, no one could call
her an arty-farty Florentine. Wasn'’t that what the waiter called
the woman at the Kaffeehaus? Listen to the accent.’

She was right. He’d been right about the coat, only the
wrong woman had been wearing it: not Antonella Scarpa, but
Anna Massi. And there was something else. Sandro held up a

hand and turned a moment to Paolo Massi.
‘Your wife went to see Lucia Gentileschi, didn’'t she, on

Friday evening? To offer her condolences? Or to find out how
much the widow knew? Lucia hardly recognized her. And then
the Gentileschis’ flat is just around the corner from the Piazza
d’Azeglio, isn’t it? And on Friday night, when Iris March had
been persuaded by you to spend the night elsewhere, someone
let themselves into that apartment, looking for something?
Someone, perhaps, who wouldn’t have worried the old contessa;

a woman of good family, paying a call?’
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she talking about? There were only a couple of Americans on the
course, and the studio could hardly be that much of a money-
spinner; it couldn’t be down to Ronnie disappearing if the whole
thing died a death. She thought Massi’s wife was rather peculiar
and naive, in fact, with her faith in the Americans, with her faith
in the school.

After they’d eaten—and none of them ate much—and
drunk some tiny cups of bitter coffee, Anna Massi had leapt
up. ‘Would you like to see the apartment?’ she asked Iris, recov-
ering some of her English. Taken aback, Iris agreed, and found
herself led through the place, shown every corner of the big dark
sitting room, which turned out to be full of ornaments, candles
and mobiles and pieces of pottery—'Anna likes to encourage
artisans, Paolo Massi had said wryly, and Iris had just nodded,
thinking, some of them maybe shouldnt have been encour-
aged. Worse than some of the stuff Ma’s friends in Provence
produced; far worse.

A big double bedroom with dark, heavy, furniture—'From
my family, Anna said haughtily—a completely ordinary bath-
room with toothpaste stains in the sink and mismatched towels.
Iris wondered if they thought all English people were obses-
sively interested in other people’s houses, or if they just didn’t
know what to do with her. A small, white-painted room, with a
single bed with a crucifix on the wall behind it and a big picture
of Padre Pio or someone like him over a chest of drawers with
more candles underneath it, like a little shrine. Iris had backed
out of that room, but not before she had seen a nightdress folded
neatly on the pillow and had understood that this was where
Anna Massi slept. ‘My back,” said Anna by way of explanation,
beforc Iris could forestall her. She put a hand to the base of her
spine and grimaced. ‘I need the hard bed.

Oh, God, thought Iris; what am I doing here?

1T think I'd better get off, now,’ she said hastily, when they
came back into the salotto where Paolo Massi looked up at them
from his newspaper, tired and nervous. ‘Really?’ he said, looking
at his watch. "When are you—T'll take you, yes?” He glanced at
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Alarmed, Sandro nodded, trving to work out where this
outburst had come trom. He put his fork down caretully. ‘Eat;
he said. ‘It’s so good. And you look worn out.

[t was true; Luisa was pale, her eyelids were dark and
heavy. She made a sound of trustration, but she began to eat.
[t was the best strategy against Luisa’s outrage, the threat of
letting food spoil. She eyed him as she ate, but he saw her grow
calmer. Then he understood; it seemed so long ago to him, but
clearly not to Luisa.

‘Oh, that,” he said impatiently. ‘T know. I was never going to
do away with myselt, you know that.” Her eyes narrowed, danger-
ously. Caretully Sandro poured her half a glass of the very nice
Brunello Pietro had given them. He had connections down in the
Val D’Orcia; a nephew drove for one of the winemakers, who'd
lost his licence. Luisa exhaled, took a sip of the wine, softened.

"You say that now, Sandro. I think you've forgotten.’

Mavbe it was true; mavbe he had forgotten. He'd certainly
been in a state two vears ago when the body of the child’s killer
was found, when questions started to get asked at Porta al Prato,
and Sandro had decided to head off on his lone mission, like John
Wayne. Knowing he would be out of the force when they found
out what he’d done. When they caught up with him. Had he
intended to do himself in? He’d be lying if he said it hadn’t gone
through his mind, but that wasn't the same thing. There was
planning involved; vou'd have to think of who found the body,
how to manage it without too much mess. Or too much pain.

As if she knew what he was thinking, Luisa said, "How
would you have done it?’ Her voice was rough; she was still angry
with him for putting her through those twenty-four hours ot
worry, just for that thought passing through his mind. T wouldn't
have done it,” he said quietly. ‘T would never have done it.

She said nothing. He shrugged, uncomfortable. Not pills,
he said uneasily. ‘Something very quick. Instantaneous.” She
knew they were both thinking about his gun, police issue. ‘But
we're not talking about me, Luisa. I would never do it.” Her hand
lay on the table, and for a moment he laid his hand on top of it.
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‘“What?’ said Sandro.

Luisa poured herself a glass of wine and sipped it slowly.

‘She handed the bag in at five, but she’s only ever there at
lunchtime. By one, one-thirty, Veronica Hutton was already
missing, wasn't she? She'd failed to turn up for her flight. My
guess would be, the bag was chucked into the bushes at the same
time Veronica Hutton was—what? Attacked? Abducted? And
Cat Lady might have been a witness.’

‘No love lost between Cat Lady and the Carabinieri, that’s
for sure, said Sandro, writing.

Abducted? She must be still there, he thought; that was
what was giving him the headache. The Carabinieri can’t have
searched the place properly; Veronica Hutton must be in there
somewhere. Because how the hell would you get her out, kicking
and screaming? Holding a gun to her back under a raincoat, like
in the movies? Could Claudio have calmed her down, got her to
walk out with him through the Porta Romana gate? Everything
in him resisted the thought that Claudio had had anything to do
with her disappearance.

But if she was still inside the Boboli, she’'d have to be dead. This
was what he had not wanted to think about, and he said as much.

As if reading his mind, Luisa went on. ‘So assume he, or
whoever, got her out of the Boboli? There’s the other gate, the
one without the camera. And if you know the place, well, no
doubt there’s any number of alleyways. There was an old lady
[ used to know whose garden was behind a hedge down at the
Porta Romana end and if she ever fancied a stroll in the park she
just popped through.

Raising his head from the page he was writing on in an
attempt to process this information, Sandro saw Luisa pour
more wine. Was it his imagination, or was she just pushing the
food around her plate? ‘Eat up, he coaxed, and she gave him an
impatient look.

‘And what about Claudio, then?’ she said. T know you; you don't
want to talk to Cat Lady exactly because she might have seen the
whole thing; she might point the finger at your beloved Claudio.’





index-308_2.png





index-59_1.png





index-176_1.png





index-241_1.png





index-301_1.png





index-240_2.png





index-300_2.png





index-114_2.png





index-177_1.png





index-242_1.png





index-302_1.png





index-114_1.png





index-176_2.png





index-241_2.png





index-301_2.png





index-300_1.png





index-117_2.png





index-180_2.png





index-245_1.png





index-117_1.png





index-180_1.png





index-244_2.png





index-304_2.png





index-118_1.png





index-117_3.png





index-181_1.png





index-115_2.png





index-178_1.png





index-243_1.png





index-303_1.png
THE DROWNING RIVER 289

% 4 %
Antonella Scarpa had relapsed now into a stony silence, although
it turned out later she was only biding her time. She pushed the
door open in front of him and Sandro took a step through it
knowing that once beyond it he would be in a position they were
always advised against in police college. No exit, never mind no
mobile signal, hidden from the street. But that was why he was
in here, wasn't it? He was stepping into the pit laid for him, and
he knew it.

She'd been here. He knew it even before he saw the
evidence, he could smell it in the air. Not her perfume or her
sweat but something baser, earthier, more primal, like the smell
of a beast in a trap. The dismal smell of abandonment he’d
detected in the desolate playground on the Lungarno Santa
Rosa, where Claudio had walked to his death believing he need
not go on living.

It looked ordinary enough. The space narrowed as it went
back, barely room for him and Antonella Scarpa together. On
his left a wall of shallow drawers for documents or plans—or
drawings, as it turned out. Scarpa said nothing as he took one
out, then another. ‘Claudio’s work?" he said, but she remained
silent. Exercising her right, even though he wasn't a police
officer any longer, no rights had been read. "We’'ll soon find out,
you know, he said.

Slowly he turned; behind him on the wall opposite the
drawers was a cupboard, an awkward wedge shape in the angle
of the low vaulted roof; a key stuck out of the small lock. He
turned the key, pulled gently at the door, dropped to his knees
to peer into the confined space and that was when he smelled
it. His more rational side told him it was probably the damp
coming up from under the hill, but the side of him that believed
in offering up a muttered prayer now and again knew it was
something else too. The cotto floor was scuffed with dusty foot-
marks, a scattering of tiny white stones and on the brickwork
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couldn’t atford to stay at home just because of a bit of rain. He had
tumbled with the words, and the more robust he tried to sound,
the more defeated he had felt. He hadn't thought it would be like
this, he'd tried to tell her. It was a different kettle of tish being in a
police torce; he thought of Falco, delegating, a whole team to send
oft here there and evervwhere, not to mention all the comforts of
a police station. He was on his own, and on the outside.

Tt'll look ditterent in the morning,” Giulietta had said.
‘Come on.’

And there were things he had wanted to ask Giulietta, too,
he knew that, only he couldn’t think of what they were right
now, and as he'd tried Sandro had found himself falling silent
at the table.

By the time Luisa’s key had turned in the lock Sandro had
been past worrving about what she would think, he had only
wanted to see her. His teeth had chattered as she leaned down
close to him and telt his torehead and his chest, clicking her
tongue in exasperation. She had felt around his neck for swollen
glands, interrogated him as to sore throats and chest pain but he
had just shaken his head. ‘I'm tine, he'd croaked.

‘No, voure not,” Luisa had said, tishing for tachipirina in a
drawer, pouring him a glass of water and then another, rubbing
his arms with her strong hands to stop his shivering. Giulietta
had stood in the corner, but Luisa hadn'’t told her to go, and after
he had climbed into bed and felt the paracetamol uncramp his
aching body, he had heard their voices in the kitchen, talking
too softly for him to hear. And then he had fallen asleep.

‘Did you tell her?’ he said now, upright in the bed and
looking at Luisa in her Sunday morning outfit, white towel gown

and big soft slippers, hair sticking straight up.
‘I showed her, said Luisa defiantly, folding her arms across

her soft white front.
‘You showed her—it? The—the—" The word stuck in his

throat. ‘How did she take it?’
Luisa snorted, ‘Giulietta? She was fine.’ She shook her head

at him.
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Luisa was looking at Giulietta. "He was going to the Boboli
to meet her, she said suddenly. ‘KH, Katfeehaus; the Kaffechaus
at the top where we were this afternoon. He'll have put it up
there to remind him. especially if he was, you know, getting
torgettul. He'll have come here at ten, just like he did every
morning, pottered about, she phoned him, he put that there to
remind himselt.” She pointed down, and on the floor Sandro saw
an ancient Bakelite phone. Claudio didn’t have a mobile, did he?
[t only he hadn't been here when she’d called.

Giulietta had put her oar in now. ‘So why hadn’t they seen
him, or the girl for that matter? At the Kaffeehaus?’

Luisa thought a moment, screwing up her tace as she did
when she was making an etfort to remember something, and the
sight of it made Sandro stop fretting over whatever it was he’d
wanted to ask her, and just look at her.

‘Mavbe she never turned up? she said, dubiously. ‘Or
maybe—well, 1 did think...” She hesitated. ‘Something did
occur to me when we were up there—’ And she stopped, and
illumination spread across her teatures. "The umbrellas,” she
said triumphantly, ‘the terrace. Tuesday was a beautitul day,
they would have had customers out on the terrace. They'd
have had extra statf, for the terrace, might have been laid
off when the rain started. Wouldn’t have known about any
of this.

‘Right,” said Sandro, holding up a hand. "That’s good, that’s
something, they met on the terrace, we knew they had to meet
somewhere. We can get hold of that waiter—tell you what,
you two can get hold of that waiter, but please, betore you say

anything else can you tell me again?’
He had Luisa’s attention at least, although she was looking

at him as though he was mad.
‘Can you please repeat to me,” said Sandro, trying to sound
as calm as he could, ‘what you said before? About his work.
‘That they were—that they looked too old, the drawings

looked too old for him to have done them? That the landlord might
have cleaned the place out? That’s what it looks like to me.
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suddenly, ‘where’s all the stuff? Because we've only seen those
sketchbooks so far, and they're sixty-five years old.

She was right, too. Sandro looked around but there was
nowhere else to store anything but the sideboard. It had two
wide drawers above the cupboard; the first one he opened
contained two boxes of paints, a wooden one containing tubes
of oils and a tin of watercolours, a box of charcoal, a bunch of
sharpened pencils held together by a rubber band. He noted that
the paints came from the same shop as Veronica Hutton’s pris-
tine box of watercolours. What did that mean? It might mean
only that Zecchi was the best place to buy paints.

The second drawer contained a stack of Zecchi sketch
pads; all apparently unused, some with their pages even uncut.
But when Sandro lifted out the last one he saw that underneath
it was a small pile of loose sheets. They were all versions of the
drawing he’d found loose on the floor, only these were different;
they looked old. Ancient, in fact, even older than Claudio’s
wartime sketchbooks, their paper soft and brown with age. He
held them up.

‘Still,” said Luisa, taking the drawings and inspecting them,
‘ten years’ work? And these don’t even look like he could have
done them. They look, I don’t know, like Michelangelo or some-
thing. Could someone have come and cleared the place out?
Some landlord?’

Distracted by Giulietta, who as Luisa spoke had crossed
to the window to peer inside the cheap melamine cabinet
that hung lopsided over the sink, Sandro did not immediately
consider what she had said.

‘Say that again?’ he said, absently.

‘What's this mean, then?’ said Giulietta, interrupting at just
the wrong moment. She had pulled off the dayglo pink Post-it
note and was holding it up. ‘It says, KH, 11.30, 1 nov’

'KH?" said Luisa. ‘Her surname begins with H, doesn’t it?
And K’s got to be foreign, we don’t have the K.

‘Hutton,” said Sandro distractedly. ‘But she’s not K, she’s V,
Veronica, Ronnie for short.’
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He swaved as he stood over her, shoes on, belt buckle
undone. He felt in his pocket for his keys; she heard them jingle.
You all right?’

‘Mmm-hmm,’ said Iris. meaning to say, of course I am, but
not able to find the right words, the right tone. He leaned down
towards her but she turned her face away so he got her cheek.
She felt his dry lips brush it.

The door closed behind him but she could hear him on the
stairs, then the street gate rattled and clanged, a deep silence
settling like tog in his wake, filling the flat’s dark corners.

Even though the whole point of telling him to go had been
that Iris would get some sleep, at last, with the clang of the gate
her thoughts set off again. She wondered where he was going
back to, at three in the morning. She didn’t know where he lived,
or who he lived with; she knew he could get angry and he had
a police record in the States, and she knew he had an iPhone,
and that was about it. She knew what his skin smelled like, now.
What have I done? she wondered.

The detective guy had called as they were getting into the
cab on the way home. Sandro Cellini. She had felt Jackson next
to her as she spoke into the phone, listening intently as she
tried to remember to say everything that was important. She'd
felt breathless as if she was being interviewed, more nervous
than when she’d been speaking to the carabiniere earlier; it
all seemed so absolutely hopeless. Searching for needles in
haystacks, old painters called Claudio in a city full of painters,
looking for Ronnie’s mystery man when he could have been any
one of dozens of playboy Italians in blazers, American college
boys in Bermudas or even a sculptor with his own studio.

When Jackson could have made the whole thing up,
because she only had his word for it. And Jackson had been the

last person to see Ronnie.
She told herself the detective was taking it seriously, though

there had been long silences on the phone; maybe he was writing
it all down. She had to believe in him because he was their last

chance, Ronnie was slipping through their fingers and only
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times, or at least it made her angry when he laughed too loudly
on the bus with her, while he was reading.

It was Sunday, so the bar was not open. During the week
Tomi went in there to buy small tins of sweets at the till, and
the barman was almost always nice to him. Once what he had
thought was a euro was a foreign coin but the barman took
it anyway. It took Tomi a long time to get across the road
because there was traffic; a fire engine with the siren going
went past and splashed his trousers below the raincoat; it was
going out towards the Viadotto dell'Indiano. Tomi stared
after it on the embankment where he stood beside the Circolo
Rondinella, looking for smoke, but perhaps it wasn’t a fire,
perhaps nothing stayed on fire in this rain. On the TV his
mother had been watching tire engines rescue people from a
mudslide.

There was no noise from the dog any more. Had someone
come to take it away? Claudio never had a dog himself, not
that Tomi knew about; Tomi wondered if he’'d mind about this
one being kept in his special place. If Claudio had had a dog,
Tomi would have certainly asked if he could take it for a walk
sometimes. The dog he had heard yesterday, and the day before,
was not being walked. Tomi supposed it might be a ditferent
kind of animal; it had been dark when it was put there, late on
Wednesday night, bundled out of a car in the dark, and the
sounds it had made were not familiar to him. Toto and Patak
had drunk so much they were asleep, each on his own bench,
and so he’'d gone to the swing under the trees, looking at the
branches being swept downstream in the dark. He’d seen a car
pull up, and he’d kept very still.

It was getting dark now although it wasn’t four-thirty yet;
the lights were coming on all down the river along the embank-
ments, flickering yellow. Yesterday the lights had come on
just after lunchtime because of the rain, it had been so dark;
yesterday he’'d heard whatever animal it was, if it wasn't a dog,
banging against the side of the shack. You couldn’t hear it just
walking along the river, you had to know where to look.
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He had seen them go into the house, Claudio’s house. He had
been on the swing. The swing in Piazza Tasso was better than
the ones on l.ungarno Santa Rosa, it was new and wide with a
rubber seat made out of an old car tyre; on Santa Rosa they were
narrow and hard. And mostly broken.

Even though he was getting wetter and wetter, Tomi felt
comtortable on his swing, and his mother let him out even if
it did mean he came in wet because it made the day go more
smoothly, that was what she said. He had tried to explain that
to the skinny woman he liked, last night, when she tried to get
him to go home.

His name was Tomi—tor Tomasso—although he knew
that thev called him Comic-book Boy. He wasn't any good at
remembering names himself so Comic-book Boy seemed good
enough.

Tomi preferred it when it wasn't raining, obviously, even
if he was having ditficulty remembering a time when it hadn't
been raining. But it had been sunny when he had seen Claudio
go down into the water, hadn't it?

They’d been in there twenty-eight minutes by the under-
water diving watch his mother had given him for Christmas last
year. Claudio was dead, Tomi knew that much. He wasn't stupid,
but he just didn’t want to think about it. Tomi had been going to
wait for them to come out again but he decided he would go over
to Santa Rosa, anyway. His mother had said that if he took his
long raincoat with the hood he could stay out until Nonna came
over, which would be at four-thirty. And he wanted to check on
the dog. If it was a dog: he hadn’t even seen it yet.

He got off the swing. Lupo Alberto had to be rolled in a
plastic bag and stowed in his pocket; Tomi had a hundred and
thirty-five books of the adventures of Lupo Alberto, that hapless
farmyard wolf, and he kept them in a plastic box beside his bed.
Even Lupo Alberto seemed to make his mother angry, some-
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sleep; he was almost grateful when she said, after a long pause,
‘Um, well, tomorrow morning would be better.

‘Sure, he said. T’ll call you. In the morning.” Suddenly, the
morning seemed a long way off.

He gave her his number, concentrating hard on not letting
his teeth chatter. He fished in his top pocket for the tachipirina
he always kept there for headaches and dry-swallowed a couple.
‘Don’t worry, he said, keeping his voice gentle. “‘We’ll find her’
And he heard her swallow a sob.

He fell back on the worn leather seat of the cab, ridiculously
exhausted by the mere effort of the conversation. The car rolled
on through the streets that gleamed in the sheeting rain; when
eventually they drew up on the corner of the Piazza Tasso and
the Via del Leone where Claudio Gentileschi’s bank stood, it was
coming down so relentlessly and with such force that it bounced
back up off the flagstones, like hail.

The bank was a hundred metres from Sandro’s office: if
he’d set up there a month earlier, he might himself have seen
Claudio Gentileschi going in and out. It was closed; wearily
Sandro looked at his watch; six-thirty now, of course it was
bloody closed, what did he expect? He realized that he had had
some idea of standing on the pavement outside it and watching,
waiting for the gut instinct that had always served him well to
tell him which passer-by might recognize the crumpled photo-
graph of Claudio Gentileschi he had in his wallet.

But the streets were deserted in the rain, and slumped,
feverish, in the back of the cab Sandro felt as if every skill he’d
learned as a policeman, every instinct he’'d developed over thirty
years, had deserted him.

‘This it?" said the cab driver over his shoulder, startling him
back to himself.

Ah, could you,” Sandro grappled with the situation, ‘give
me a minute?” Then added, ‘Wait there.” The driver shrugged,
tapped the meter. ‘Fine by me,” he said. ‘Take your time.

Sandro stood outside the bank’s dark windows and
peered inside. There were close to a million euros of Claudio’s
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image of that broad back rolling in the grey water came back to
Sandro with a shiver that was partly fever, and partly the horrors.

The horrors had come on with full force after his first
dead body, when he'd been twenty-four and attending the
scene ot a tratfic accident in the Borgo degli Albizzi. Nothing
lurid; a boy knocked down by a motorino, struck his head on
the kerb and was dead within ten minutes. The life had just
gone out of him, without a sound, and that night Sandro, who
had been first on the scene, had lain in his bed rigid with the
effort of not seeing, all over again, the pallor that had come
over the boy's tace, the horrible slackness in his limbs. And
how the boy’s mother had come running, still in her apron,
awkwardly down the street.

He'd had to learn that there was a trick to dealing with
the dead—with dead bodies, at least—that was learned gradu-
ally, with repeated exposure. One had to be methodical, and at
all costs to consider the corpse as just another kind of matter,
no longer animate. Respect was important, however; he’d seen
men jeer at corpses—policemen and others, and once a woman,
kicking the body of her dead, violent husband as she was being
handcuffed—and such people, in his experience, never returned
to full humanity. Cells died off, and could not be replaced.
Sandro had instead developed a kind of impassivity, the mask of
a stolid, imperturbable officer who could keep going when the
younger ones had to go outside to vomit.

Luisa used to say to him, long ago, ‘I can’t talk to you when
you've got that face on.’ He hadn't really understcod what she

meant; he’d thought, then, that it was exactly what was required;

they weren’t paid to have feelings.
But it wasn’t some sort of technique, it was a trick, all

along, an illusion; the girl’s death fifteen years ago had proved
that. Doggedly Sandro had passed information to her father,
collating, photocopying, posting as efficiently as a machine,
and all the time a connection had been loose, fizzing away.

The feelings hadn’t gone away; out of sight, they’d mutated into
something altogether harder to manage. The horrors. In the rain
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You didn't believe him?" interjected Hiroko mildly.

1 didn't know what to believe,” said Iris. ‘Though it looks
like it's true, atter all, doesn’t it?" She shot a glance at Sophia.
Tt's—it’s just—well, it was him [ wasn’t sure about. Jackson.’ She
shook her head, all the doubts returning. Think, Sandro Cellini
had said, hadn’t he? You have the eve for detail

She bit her lip and went on, their eyes on her. ‘Jackson’s not
what I expected: T always thought he was so laid-back, you know,
in school. He—he seemed very strange vesterday. Angry.” She hesi-
tated, trying not to think of the time when he had stopped being
angrv. She went on, blurting it out, all the stuff that had been
sitting there at the back ot her mind, because even if this Claudio
existed, it didn't let Jackson oft the hook, did it? Not completely.

‘And he told me he saw Ronnie on Tuesday morning. He
admitted that; only he wouldn't tell me what he was doing for
the rest of the dav.” She looked from Sophia to Hiroko, and back,
pleading. ‘He wasn't at the potter’s place, was he? Did he turn up
in the afternoon?’

'T don't think he did, said Hiroko, troubled, turning to
Sophia.

'T left after the pottery thing,’ said Sophia in a small voice.
Guilty; Sophia was always a fair-weather student. ‘Before lunch.’

‘I think he wasn’t there in the afternoon,’ said Iris, dully.

‘But why?’ asked Hiroko, puzzling over it. "What motive
would he have, to—to do anything to Ronnie?’

Iris felt a burning in her eyes. ‘I don’t know, she said. ‘Sex? I
don’t know anything about—all that” Meaning, sex, or jealousy,
or passion, or rage. All she knew about was the sick sensation
in her stomach at the thought of last night, and how out of her

depth she was.
‘Did you sleep with him?” asked Hiroko, and the question

in her soft singsong voice didn’t seem intrusive. It was almost

welcome.
‘Yes, said Iris, feeling cold, suddenly, as if she didn’t have

enough clothes on. How could she have done it? She felt Hiroko’s
hand on her shoulder.
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the appointed representative of the girl’s mother.” He didn’t add,
Who pays your wages, too. ‘And she would want to know you
were offering every co-operation. He saw Massi’s jaw tighten,
and felt a tiny flare of satisfaction that he’d managed to get the
man’s back up.

‘Five o’clock, said Massi shortly. ‘You know where it is?’

I do, thought Sandro, and Massi held the door open for him
without ceremony, and he was on the street again.

And for a moment Sandro just stood there, breathing in
the clean, wet air. For the moment the rain had stopped, but the
sky was low and black overhead, and in the Sunday quiet Sandro
could hear the great thunderous rush of the river, the other side
of the crumbling ochre bulk of the Palazzo Serristori. About six
or seven metres up on the palazzo’s great flank Sandro’s eyes
rested on the familiar small rectangle of stone; a commemora-
tive plaque common so close to the Arno. Engraved in it was a
horizontal line, and above and below the line ran the words: On
4th November 1966 the Waters of the Arno Arrived at this Point.
And forty years later, thought Sandro as the din of the water
drummed in his ears, Lucia Gentileschi walked into my office.

As he came out of the Serristori’s massive, dilapidated
shadow and into mobile range Sandro’s phone bleeped.
Impatiently he patted himself down, with no idea where he’d
put the damned thing. He located it in his back pocket. Message
waiting, it said; he jabbed at it, managing to press the wrong
button and send the message back to the inbox. It would be
Luisa, asking him where they were going to have lunch.

He weighed the phone in his hand thoughtfully; the image of
the old printing press came to him. Claudio would have liked that,
he’'d thought. The beautiful old machine, with its partisan pedigree.
There was a connection here somewhere, though he was doing no
more than groping in the dark for it. With the phone in his hand,
instead of checking the message he dialled Lucia Gentileschi.

Her voice had lost the crispness it had when she first came
into his oftice, and Sandro imagined that she had slept badly. He
was brisk, because he knew she didn’t want sympathy.
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There had been no need tor a full mastectomy, but Luisa
had demanded one. The chemotherapy was a precaution, but
Luisa had insisted on it. Brave.

On the bed, she turned her head towards him, and smiled.

Lucky.
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away cup, let himselt in. He was. .. she frowned. ‘Let me think,
he had something with him, more than the usual—he often has

a document case or such like. Tuesday he had—what was it? He
was having ditficulty with the door, what with the takeaway
cup, carrying it all. More like a weekend bag type of thing, fancy
designer one. He went straight in the back, and left it there.

Sandro tollowed her gaze, tixing on the glow of the security
light visible at the back of the gallery. Once his eyes adjusted, he
could see that it illuminated a wall of storage, and a door out to
the back.

"Then he came back to his desk, sat right down, didn’t really
move. She smiled to herself. ‘Sometimes I just stare at him, waiting
for him to give in and meet my eye, but it’s like I don’t exist, you
know? He was on the phone a bit, then did some paperwork.

‘And Antonella Scarpa? His assistant? When did she arrive
on the scene?’

There had been something about Antonella, thought
Sandro, hadn't there? Tougher than him, by a long way. A
worker, tenacious, prickly. How did she feel about being number
two wife? Number three, maybe, after Veronica Hutton.

Pursing her lips, Gabi pronounced, ‘She turned up, oh,
must have been ten? I'd nipped down the road for a coffee myself
around then, and she was arriving just as [ was letting myself
back in.

‘Was that the only time you left the shop?” he asked.

Gabi looked at him, affronted. ‘It was, she said with

dignity. ‘I bring myself a sandwich, generally. No such thing as
a lunch break, these days.’

‘And when the wife arrived?’
She frowned again, concentrating hard. ‘An hour or so

later? Eleven, eleven-thirty sort of time?
‘A bit early for lunch,” mused Sandro, half to himself. And

a bit of a coincidence, anyway, if the wife hardly ever went down

there, for her to turn up just out of the blue.
‘Lunch? I didn’t see much sign of lunch,” said Gabi, chin

still in her hands. ‘Not then, anyway, too early for lunch.” She
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on his new career had gone. He had completed a job; was that
it? He was too old and too disillusioned to expect anything like
protessional satistaction, whatever Pietro had implied.

‘We'd have vou back in a shot, you know,” he had said on
the phone only this morning; tvpical of Pietro to give him space,
to leave things to settle.

You wouldn't,” Sandro had said, smiling to himself. ‘And 1
wouldn't go. I like things better this way.

‘Fair enough, said Pietro, relieved. ‘How's Luisa?’

Which had been a harder question to answer.

Maresciallo Falco had not given Sandro space. The cara-
binicre had phoned personally, Monday atternoon, and asked,
politely, it Sandro would have the time to pay him a visit, to
update him on the case. After the morning he’d had, not to
mention the thirtv-six hours without sleep, he should have
said no, but blearily he'd kissed Luisa, who had been filling the
washing machine and retusing to talk, said he’d be back in an
hour, and walked down there, across the roaring Arno, to the
Boboli. His senses had seemed sharpened by the lack of rest; he
looked at everything he passed—the yellowing trees, the dirty
pavements, the overflowing dumpsters—as if he was seeing

them for the first—or last—time.
"You look rough,” had been the first thing Falco had said

as Sandro entered his office. The carabiniere was sitting back
in his chair with a sheepish look the cheertul insult attempted
to disguise. He'd then gestured to the chair opposite him and
Sandro had sat warily, not knowing what to expect. There was
a degree of discomfiture on either side; Falco had underes-
timated Sandro, and knew as much, and in his turn Sandro
found that he didn’t relish this unfamiliar position on the
moral high ground. If Falco ended up feeling humiliated,
there’d be trouble.

But then the Maresciallo had begun to speak. Haltingly
at first, but quite soon with something verging on enthusiasm,
at least for a carabiniere, Falco had gone through the case with
him, and it had slowly dawned on Sandro that the man actu-
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wrapped it. replaced it with her own. Laboriously she tapped in a
message while he watched, then she put the phone away.

"Who was that to?’ he said, and she frowned.

‘None of your business,” she said.

‘Listen Iris. said Jackson, and this time he wasn’t cocky or
wheedling or angry, just desperate. ‘Don't be that way. If this is
about Sophia—I—she—she wasn’t anything. We were just—’

Just tooling around, veah,' said Iris, angry more than
anything because he thought she cared. He thought all this
was about Sophia. "Why don't vou tell Sophia that she wasn't
anything? She folded her arms across her body. ‘Look,” she said,
relenting, because why would she even let him think she was
angry? She wasn't angry. ‘Look, can’'t you understand that this
isn't about that stutt? It really isn't. We're in a mess, this is too
serious for us to be just playing around trying to be detectives.
There are things we know that the police should know, simple
as that.’

‘Thev look kind ot busy,” said Jackson, nodding towards
a Carabiniere vehicle parked under the statue of Neptune, an
officer leaning on the side under a military raincape and talking
urgently into his radio.

‘You're making excuses, said Iris. He looked at his feet.

‘OK, he said quietly, ‘T'll go, but she went on as if he hadn't
spoken.

‘And I know that whatever her mum thinks, Ronnie’s prob-
ably dead...” and although she planned to say it in that casual,
hard way, she found she couldn’t, and she had to swallow. ‘But
we need to find her. [ need to find her. She’s my friend.’

Jackson looked up at her, his face frozen with reluctance.
‘I still think it would be better if you came with me, he said

stubbornly.
I think maybe you should take the sim card, too,” she said,

ignoring him to fish in her purse for it.

Jeez, no, said Jackson, alarmed. ‘How’m I going to explain
that? Oh, I just found it lying around? They’re going to think I
had something to do with it.” She looked at him patiently.
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